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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
Applicant
:
Mr T Monk

Scheme
:
The Bradstock Group Pension Scheme

Respondents
:
The Bradstock Group plc (in liquidation) (the Group)

Bradstock Group Pension Scheme Trustees Ltd (BGPST)

Jardine Lloyd Thompson (JLT) (Former Administrators)

MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Mr Monk has complained:

1.1. That the Group failed to pay funds into the Scheme as it had previously promised and deliberately delayed reaching a settlement with the Trustee in order that senior company officials might benefit from retiring before winding up commenced, thereby gaining a more favourable position in the priority order for securing benefits.

1.2. That BGPST failed to ensure that contributions due from the Employer were paid, misled him as to the future viability of the Scheme, and failed to deal with his request for a transfer in a timely manner,

1.3. That JLT issued a misleading statement suggesting he might wish to defer taking a transfer value.

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

COMPLAINT AGAINST THE GROUP

FAILURE TO PAY PROCEEDS OF DISPOSALS TO THE SCHEME
Mr Monk’s Submission

3. The Group made unequivocal statements to the effect that the proceeds from the sale of parts of the Group would primarily be used to rectify the Scheme’s deficit. These were more than statements of intent. For example:

3.1. The Share Disposal Prospectus

“[the deficit] is currently estimated at between £9 million and £10 million. In effecting the Disposals, the Group will be [Mr Monk’s emphasis] able to fund the deficit … and the Group intends over time to apply most of the cash proceeds from the Disposals for this purpose.”

“After settlement of the … deficit, taxation, the reorganisation costs referred to above and transaction costs …”

“the Board believes that the disposal of the Insurance Broking Businesses brings an end to these uncertainties and provides a firm foundation for the Group’s business which the Company can restore and grow its income for the future.”

“the onus of complying with the requirement to fund 90 per cent of the liabilities by April 2003 is a serious drain on our cash flow. It is in the light of this situation that the Board took the decision to seek a buyer for the Insurance Broking business and, in effecting the sale, to address the deficit in the Pension Scheme.”

3.2. The Group’s annual report 2001

“during the year net expenditure of £7.4 million has been allocated against the provisions put in place at 30 September 2000 and an additional £8.7 million charged to profit and loss account. The most significant outstanding provision is that for the Pension Scheme deficit.”

3.3. Public statements made by the Group Chairman that the principal reason for the sales was to rectify the deficit in the Scheme.

3.4. Oral statements made by Board members at the Group’s AGMs and EGM.

3.5. The announcement sent to Bradstock Blunt & Thompson employees (see Appendix 3)

3.6. Statements made by members of the Board at staff presentations to the effect that it was in their interests ‘to stay on board’ both in terms of jobs and not taking transfers from the Scheme. Mr Monk has submitted statements from former employees of Bradstock Blunt & Thompson and the former Chief Executive of Bradstock Blunt & Thompson (see Appendix 1)

4. The statements from the Group induced him to leave his benefits in the Scheme, which later proved to be to his detriment. He asserts that, had he been given the appropriate information, he would have transferred his benefits ‘at any time from October 1999’.

5. The undertakings given by the Group went much further than an indication that a higher contribution rate would be paid in order to amortise the deficit over the remaining future service life of the members.

6. The Group was under a duty to inform Scheme members when it became apparent that it could not or would not use the funds raised by the disposals in the way it had undertaken to.

7. The minutes of the Board meetings indicate that it was aware that there was widespread concern amongst the Scheme members and that any statement from the Group would be relied upon by the members. The minutes indicate that less funding was intended for the Scheme than had been suggested in statements issued by the Group. In particular, 

7.1. Reference in the minutes dated 20 November 2000 to the application of £7.6 million contradicts a statement in the Prospectus that the whole of the deficit (£9-10 million) would be rectified by the proceeds from the disposals.

7.2. Reference in the minutes dated 11 January and 16 February 2001 to a £2 million payment.

7.3. Reference in the minutes dated 6 June 2001 to a payment of £1.925 million.

8. His own proximity to retirement age meant that he was particularly interested in any statement made by the Group concerning the security of members’ benefits.

9. He is the director of a company offering professional trustee services and was a Scheme trustee for a number of years. This experience and expertise in pensions matters meant that he was particularly sensitive to any information issued concerning the Scheme. He attended every Annual General Meeting (AGM) or EGM of the Group.

10. From late 1999, he was greatly concerned over the Scheme’s funding position, which is why he took steps to elicit comfort from the Group and BGPST. It was because of his professional background and proximity to retirement that he went to such lengths to elicit as much information as possible. If he had not been misled, he would have transferred his benefits out of the Scheme in order to protect his position.

11. Although he was aware of the possibility of a deal between the Group and BGPST, he had no knowledge of the nature of the deal. The extent of his knowledge was that a deal was possible and that statements had been issued to the effect that any deal would be in the best interests of the members.

12. The deal between the Group and BGPST was a landmark case. He could not therefore have had any idea as to the outcome of the case.

Background

13. The Scheme is an approved final salary occupational pension scheme for which the Group is the Principal Employer. The Scheme commenced winding up on 13 May 2002.

14. Mr Monk was employed by Bradstock Financial Services Limited (BFS Ltd), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. Mr Monk’s employment with BFS Ltd ceased in October 1999, when the company went into administration. He became a deferred member of the Scheme.

15. From 1993 to 1999, Mr Monk was a Scheme trustee.

16. In March 2000, the Group announced that it would be disposing of certain of its insurance broking businesses.

17. On 31 August 2000, the Group announced that it had signed an agreement for the sale of its retail insurance broking business, Bradstock Blunt & Thompson, to Alexander Forbes Risk Services for £12.7 million. It also announced that it had signed an agreement for the sale of its marine and energy reinsurance broking business to Jardine Lloyd Thompson for a figure in the region of £3 million. In the Group’s annual report and accounts for the year ending 30 September 2001, the net inflow of cash in respect of acquisitions and disposals for 2000 is shown as £12,003,000.

18. In 2001, the Group negotiated a compromise agreement with BGPST for the statutory debt, which would have become payable when the Scheme commenced winding up. The Group could not afford to pay the contributions required to eliminate the Scheme’s deficit within the statutory timescales and would be forced into liquidation unless the debt was compromised. The terms of the compromise agreement meant that, although the Scheme would receive considerably less than that needed to achieve the Minimum Finding Requirement (MFR) deficit, it would receive more than if the Group went into liquidation. BGPST sought the approval of the High Court before accepting the compromise agreement. Approval was given in May 2002. A brief report of the case is included in Appendix 1.

19. BGPST wrote to the members on 31 May 2002 informing them of the key terms of the settlement. These were:

19.1. The Group would make a payment of approximately £1.5 million.

19.2. The Group would issue 3,333,323 new shares to the Scheme, representing 5% of the issued share capital of the Group. BGPST could sell these at any time.

19.3. The Scheme would be entitled to,

· 15% of the Group’s after tax profit for each of the following five years, subject to a maximum of £2 million.

· 50% of the net proceeds of the sale of a wholly owned subsidiary.

· 35% of any credit write-backs released to the Group in the following five years.

19.4. A number of warranties in respect of the settlement and existing financial condition of the Group.

19.5. Obligations under the settlement were to be secured by fixed and floating charges and cross-guarantees.

19.6. The Group’s companies and directors were released from liability to BGPST.

20. Following the High Court’s approval of the compromise agreement, the Group triggered the winding up of the Scheme. The Scheme’s liabilities fall to be secured in accordance with the statutory priority order to the extent the assets allow. Deferred members’ benefits have been reduced to 15% of benefits in excess of protected rights.

21. A winding up order was made on 3 December 2003 in respect of the Group. The Secretary of State for Trade and Industry appointed two partners in the firm of Ernst & Young as joint liquidators (for convenience referred to as Ernst & Young in this determination). Ernst & Young have explained that the Group’s assets are subject to a charge in favour of BGPST.

22. The annual report and accounts for the Scheme for the year ended 30 September 2002 show that the Scheme received the following Employer contributions;

15 months to 30 September 2001
normal

£813,809






additional
£4,058,871

year ended 30 September 2002
normal

£109,426






additional
£1,608,333

23. The annual report and accounts for the period 1 July 2000 to 30 September 2001 confirm that the Scheme received £813,809 normal Employer contributions and £4,058,871 additional Employer contributions.

Bradstock Group Plc’s Position

24. The Group has opted not to submit a response to Mr Monk’s complaint in order not to incur costs which would further diminish funds, which might otherwise be available for the Scheme.

DELAYS IN REACHING A SETTLEMENT
Mr Monk’s Submission

25. Mr Monk submits that the Group delayed reaching a settlement with BGPST in order that the Chairman and Chief Executive of the Group could reach normal retirement age (in March 2002) before winding up commenced.

26. Mr Monk has referred to the minutes of a BGPST meeting on 20 March 2002. The minutes record,

“Scheme deficit funding

4.1 Update on progress
… the progress regarding the settlement agreement is very slow on the part of the Company and [its solicitors] In addition, the representative beneficiary must sign the confidentiality agreement with the Company before any information can be disclosed to him or his solicitors and the progress between the Company and the representative beneficiary has also been very slow … The Trustee was very disappointed with the Company’s attitude towards making progress on the settlement agreement …

9.1 Discussion with the Company
NB and DL left the meeting to discuss with RJ the lack of progress on the Company’s part regarding the settlement agreement. When they returned, they reported … They had communicated the Trustee’s disappointment … They agreed that IGN would send RJ a list of action points … RJ explained that he was currently looking at the profit share issues and is finding this difficult. He suggested that there may be some further negotiation required on this area. RJ accepted that some of the costs … have been incurred because the Company was delaying and the Company will consider bearing some of this cost.

RJ had informed NB and DL that the agreed deal of £3¼ million was on the premise that the Company would receive money from the sale in Malaysia … RJ explained that it is not clear that the this sale is going to go through … The Trustee … noted that the Company appeared to be changing the deal … It was noted that the Trustee may have to start negotiating again with the Company.”

27. The timing of the settlement and the Chairman’s retirement are too much of a coincidence.

28. Any potential sums paid into the Scheme will not be applied for the benefit of deferred members because of the operation of the priority order.

29. A report of which Mr Monk has subsequently become aware, casts doubt on the Group’s future viability. The Chairman refused to accept the report and the Group continued to trade until it could not obtain professional indemnity insurance. Had the report been acted upon, the Chairman would have been prevented from becoming a pensioner and benefiting from the priority order.

Bradstock Group Plc’s Position

30. See paragraph 24.

COMPLAINTS AGAINST BGPST

SHOULD THE MATTER BE INVESTIGATED AND DETERMINED?
31. The Higham Group (which is the Company Secretary for BGPST) have explained that BGPST is not trading and has no assets and that, whilst BGPST held trustee indemnity insurance for a number of years, this was not the case by the time of Mr Monk’s complaint. The Group suggests that on a previous occasion I declined to investigate a complaint on the grounds that it would be futile to do so and has suggested that I adopt the same approach here.

32. Mr Monk’s solicitor has suggested that I can look beyond BGPST to the individual directors of that company. In other words, that I can ‘pierce the corporate veil’. He has pointed out that, during part of the period in question, Capital Cranfield Trustees Limited (Capital Cranfield) was a director of BGPST. He goes on to point out that Capital Cranfield should have indemnity insurance cover, which it might call upon in the event that I uphold a complaint against it.

33. Capital Cranfield is not a party to Mr Monk’s complaint (other than as a director of BGPST) but has been given the opportunity to comment in view of the suggestion that individual directors be held responsible. Its comments are summarised as follows:

33.1. Capital Cranfield Trustees Limited was not the trustee of the Scheme at the relevant time but was a director of BGPST. Only in exceptional circumstances have the courts been prepared to pierce the corporate veil in the way suggested. Those circumstances include cases of fraud or where the company is a mere façade concealing the true facts. This is not the case here.

33.2. No specific allegations have been made against Capital Cranfield and no evidence as to any liability on its part has been offered. No case has been offered as to why it should be appropriate for me to pierce the corporate veil and hold Capital Cranfield personally responsible by virtue of its position as a director of BGPST.

33.3. The prime motive for Mr Monk’s solicitor to bring Capital Cranfield into the matter is a belief that it would be covered by indemnity insurance. This is not an appropriate basis upon which to decide liability for maladministration.

33.4. The fact that Mr Monk’s complaint against BGPST appears futile because of a lack of remedy does not mean that he can found a complaint against other parties purely on the basis that they may have funds available.

34. Although the Higham Group have drawn my attention to a previous decision, which they see as supporting their submission, there have also been occasions when I considered that it was in the interests of scheme members or the public to undertake an investigation even though it seemed likely that financial redress for any injustice could be achieved. I take the same view here. Mr Monk has made serious allegations and both he, and those against whom they lie should have those allegations determined.

FAILURE TO ENSURE PAYMENT OF EMPLOYER’S CONTRIBUTIONS

Mr Monk’s Submission

35. Mr Monk refers to a statement in the 2000 actuarial valuation, to the effect that the Group had contributed at a level below the recommended rate. He submits that this indicates that BGPST failed to ensure that contributions were paid in accordance with the rate recommended by the Scheme Actuary and agreed between the Group and BGPST in accordance with the Scheme Rules.

36. BGPST did not take steps to protect the members’ benefits, for example, by requesting increased contributions from the Group or seeking a charge over the Group’s assets.

37. BGPST was aware that the Group was not making payments to the Scheme following the disposals and should have taken steps to ensure that the ‘undertakings’ were honoured. At the least, it should have informed members that the ‘undertakings’ were not being honoured.

38. Mr Monk refers to a comment in the Share Disposal Prospectus,

“the Group also gain some interest benefit pending actual application of the proceeds of the Disposals for the stated purposes.”

He suggests that this indicates that the Group held on to monies from the disposal earmarked for the Scheme to gain the benefit of the interest.

Background

39. The Scheme Actuary issued a report in September 2001, having valued the Scheme as at 1 October 2000. In this report, he stated,

“Members contribute to the Scheme at the rate of 5% (Staff), 6% (Directors) or 8% (Main-board Directors) of Pensionable Salary; the Employers meet the balance of the cost.

At the previous valuation a contribution rate of 27.3% of Pensionable Salaries inclusive of member contributions and group life premiums was recommended. The Employers have contributed at slightly below this rate during the inter-valuation period. Administration expenses are paid separately by the Employers.”

40. The Actuary calculated a standard contribution rate of 31.8% of Pensionable Salaries (including members’ contributions) but recommended that BGSPT also ask the Employers for an additional contribution of £2 million.

41. General Rule 3(2) provides,

“Contributions of Employer

(a) Each Employer shall from time to time make such contributions to the Fund as are estimated together with the contributions of the Members (if any) under sub-rule (1) hereof to enable the Trustees to provide the benefits of the Scheme

(b) The said contributions shall be calculated on a basis agreed between the Trustees and the Principal Employer and shall be subject to review at intervals of not more than five years”

42. Clause 16 provides,

“THE Principal Employer may at any time (but without prejudice to its liability for the payment of any contributions which prior to such time shall have become payable) terminate its liability and where appropriate that of its Employees to contribute to the Fund by notice in writing to the Trustees”

43. Clause 18 provides,

“THE Scheme shall be determined and the Fund wound up in accordance with sub-clause (2) hereof … upon the earlier happening of any one of the following events

(a) The termination by the Principal Employer of its liability … (unless the Trustees shall resolve that the determination of the Scheme and the winding up of the Fund shall be deferred and that the same shall be administered as a paid-up fund in accordance with the provisions of THIS DEED and of the Rules but without any further liability on the part of the Employers and of the Members to contribute thereto)

…”

44. In response to an application by Mr Monk at stage one of the Scheme’s Internal Dispute Resolution (IDR) procedure, the Higham Group said,

“The actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 1 October 2000 commented that in the interim valuation period since the last actuarial valuation, the Company had contributed at slightly below the recommended contribution level. It is usual practice for an actuary to set out a recommended contribution level in an actuarial valuation, but this does not mean that the Company is obliged to contribute at this level. The rate set out in the valuation was above the level required by the minimum funding requirement. The ability to set the contribution rate is not within the Trustee’s power. All the Trustee can do is to attempt to persuade the employers to pay contributions at the recommended level. The Trustee has no power to ensure that contributions are paid at this level. The Trustee complied with its duty to ensure that the contributions paid were at least adequate to satisfy the statutory minimum funding requirement throughout the relevant period. It is not the case that the Trustee failed to ensure that contributions were paid at the agreed level. The Company fully complied with the Schedule of Contributions throughout the relevant period.”

45. A stage two IDR response was provided by Capital Cranfield, which had, by then, been appointed as trustee for the Scheme. This said,

“As is the usual practice, the actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 1 July 1998 included a recommended ongoing contribution rate. The recommended rate was 27.3% of pensionable salaries (including member contributions and group life premiums). The valuation as at 1 July 1998 … stated that the contribution rate … is consistent with the amount that was being paid since the benefit changes on 1 July 1998. For at least part of the intervaluation period, contributions … were therefore paid at 27.3% of Pensionable Salaries. This rate was above the level required by the minimum funding requirement … the ability to set the contribution rate is not within the Trustee’s power and all the Trustee can do is to attempt to persuade the employers to pay contributions at the recommended level. The Trustee has no power to ensure that contributions are paid at this level. The Trustee complied with its duty to ensure that the contributions paid were at least adequate to satisfy the statutory minimum funding requirement throughout the relevant period. It is not the case that the Trustee failed to ensure that contributions were paid at the agreed level. The Company fully complied with the Schedule of Contributions throughout the relevant period.”

MISLEADING MR MONK AS TO THE FUTURE VIABILITY OF THE SCHEME

Mr Monk’s Submission

46. Mr Monk submits that BGPST failed to warn deferred members, including himself, of the risks they faced by remaining in the Scheme.

47. Whilst a trustee’s duty of care does not usually extend to the volunteering of advice to members, BGPST did volunteer advice in its letter of 21 February 2002 (see below). This advice was misleading and BGPST was under a duty to ensure that the advice and information it did give was correct. Its failure to check the accuracy of the advice and information given to Mr Monk amounts to maladministration.

48. Mr Monk asserts that it should have been readily apparent to BGPST, shortly after the compromise agreement was put forward, that the statutory priority order would mean that pensioners would receive more favourable treatment than deferred members. He asserts that, had BGPST given an indication of the likely effect on deferred members, he would have transferred his benefits out of the Scheme.

49. Mr Monk says that, at the time, the actuarial profession was not communicating the effects of winding up in deficit on members of the scheme or that the MFR basis gave very little protection to deferred members.

50. The whole issue of communicating risk is at the core of the Parliamentary Ombudsman’s recent report and that published by the Public Administration Select Committee. The predecessor to the FSA and the Government were offering unequivocal advice that members of defined benefit schemes should not transfer their benefits into personal pension arrangements.

51. Mr Monk refers to an announcement issued to members by BGPST informing them about the compromise agreement. He submits that BGPST deliberately failed to give any indication of how dire the position for deferred members was going to be.

52. Mr Monk further submits that, despite the fact that he wrote to BGPST seeking reassurance that future contribution rates would target the Scheme deficit, they still failed to alert him to the dangers of remaining in the Scheme. He says that, on the contrary, BGPST said that the Group would be required to contribute at an amount to bring the Scheme to 90% MFR funding by 2003 and to be fully funded by 2007. Mr Monk suggests that, at the time of their letter (February 2002), BGPST must have been aware of the proposed compromise agreement.

Background

53. Mr Monk wrote to BGPST on 31 December 2001, following the December 2001 announcement. He requested further clarification concerning the reduction in transfer values and asked for an indication of his own transfer value. JLT sent Mr Monk a transfer value statement on 13 February 2002. This quoted a reduced transfer value of £449,168 and said that the reduction in the excess above protected rights was £165,891. The transfer value was guaranteed to 13 May 2002.

54. BGPST wrote to Mr Monk on 21 February 2002,

“… The Trustee is currently working on agreeing the new Schedule of Contributions. As a minimum the Schedule must provide that the contributions are set at a level that will ensure that the Scheme is funded, on the basis of the Minimum Funding Requirement, to a level of 90% by 6 April 2003 and to 100% by 6 April 2007.

Turning to your specific queries:

1. The deficit determined on the ongoing basis revealed by the previous actuarial valuation … was approximately £10m.

2. The corresponding deficit of £26.5m revealed … as at 1 October 2000 equated to a funding coverage of 59% …

3. … the Trustee will be setting a new Schedule of Contributions which will require the employers to contribute at an amount required to bring the funding … to 90% by 6 April 2003 and 100% by 6 April 2007 …

4. Transfer values will be reduced in accordance with the priority order … in the Pensions Act 1995 …

Finally, we do sympathise with your concerns and would like to assure you that the Trustee … continues to monitor the situation and is working in the interests of members to explore whether it can take any further action to improve the funding position …”

55. Mr Monk then asked if BGPST would authorise the Scheme Actuary to release information to another actuary who was advising him. BGPST declined on the basis that both actuaries worked for JLT and Mr Monk’s request raised issues of confidentiality and conflict of interest. Mr Monk responded,

“… I do understand the difficulties of conflict however, I am attempting in the most effective way to obtain answers to some questions in order that I may decide whether or not I should take the transfer value now or defer my decision until more information is known.

… I am seeking to understand … whether my transfer value may be either increased or reduced as a result of the proposals being made to the High Court, which I understand will eventually end up with the winding up of the pension scheme.

Whilst it may not be possible for the Trustees to answer this specific question, I would be grateful if you would advise me of the factors that I need to consider …

I might then, with some help, be able to make my own judgement. The issues are obviously investment performance, liabilities, priorities on winding up and the final valuation on wind up.

I also trust that when the Trustees do trigger winding up they will instruct their advisors to take into account the ability to reduce the cost of securing pensions for existing pensioners taking into account their health. I am personally aware that at least two pensioners have health issues, which would reduce the cost of buying annuities …”

56. In its response dated 27 March 2002, BGPST said that it was envisaged that the winding up would be triggered if the court approved the proposed settlement and that there would be no further contributions from that point. It also said that a settlement would be based upon it coming to the conclusion that the Group was unlikely to be able to pay the deficit in full and a lesser sum would be accepted. BGPST went on to explain that, once winding up commenced, it was required to distribute the assets in accordance with the statutory priority order, under which pensioners took first priority. BGPST said,

“… it is not possible to say the exact effect that winding-up would have on your benefits. However, it is likely that because of the current and likely future funding position of the Scheme, your benefits will be reduced.

We cannot advise on whether the transfer value [you] have been quoted is likely to increase or decrease as a result of the settlement, nor as to whether or not you should take a transfer … We suggest that you seek independent advice …”

57. On 5 April 2002, Mr Monk responded,

“… Whilst the information is of assistance I am still finding it difficult even with professional help to reach a decision.

I am within 16 months of normal retirement date, any difference in the transfer value is obviously crucial … based on the transfer value provided … earlier this year, I am already facing a substantial reduction in expectation.

I appreciate that until winding up is actually triggered and the calculations are made the precise amount of funds left for the non-priority members cannot be known.”

58. Mr Monk went on to ask if the winding up would be triggered immediately after approval for the settlement. He said that it would be in his interests not to take a transfer if the winding up was not going to be triggered until after his normal retirement date (August 2003). Mr Monk asked if the Trustee would extend the guarantee period for his transfer value. In an e-mail of the same date, Mr Monk requested a copy of the Scheme Rules and the latest actuarial valuation report.

59. BGPST responded on 23 April 2002, saying that it could not say when exactly winding up would commence if the settlement was approved. It did say that the court hearing was likely to take place on 2 or 3 May 2002. BGPST said that it was unable to confirm the exact amount of the settlement at that stage because it was still in active negotiations. It declined to extend the guarantee period for Mr Monk’s transfer value saying that it had to act in the interests of all the members.

60. Mr Monk responded on 27 April 2002,

“… I am sorry that further information is not available to assist in my decision. The impact is enormous, however I feel I can no longer accept the uncertainty, and as a result formally request that my benefits are transferred … to a Personal Pension transfer plan of my choosing.

If there was a chance that the scheme could continue without wind up being triggered for any reasonable length of time my decision would have course been different, given the closeness to the attainments of my NRD.”

61. In response to Mr Monk’s application at stage one of the IDR procedure, the Higham Group said,

“It has also been stated that Mr Monk was not sufficiently warned by the Trustee that his benefits were likely to be reduced should the Scheme enter winding-up. In March 2002 the Trustee issued an announcement to members explaining that it was in settlement negotiations with [the Group] to settle the deficit … This announcement included … explaining the settlement process and discussing what would happen if the Scheme entered winding-up. At the time the parties were still negotiating … the Trustee was not able to give specific details … it was impossible for the Trustee to say whether the transfer value quoted would increase or decrease following the settlement …”

62. The Higham Group referred to the Trustee’s letter of 27 March 2002  and said that Mr Monk had been advised to seek independent financial advice and warned that his benefits were likely to be reduced on winding-up. The Higham Group made the following points:

62.1. The Trustee’s announcements in the period up to May 2002 had stated that it was likely that benefits would be reduced but the Trustee was not aware of the extent of any reduction.

62.2. Mr Monk had suggested that a reference to a new Schedule of Contributions was misleading but the Trustee was, in fact, negotiating a new schedule at the time.

62.3. The amount of information the Trustee could release to members was constrained by uncertainty and by confidentiality requirements imposed by the Group.

63. A stage two IDR response was provided by Capital Cranfield, which said,

“The Trustee does not accept that it deliberately, or otherwise, misled members as to the continued viability of the Scheme. The Trustee could not know what the outcome of the settlement negotiations would be until the court hearing. The negotiation of the settlement was an extremely difficult process. The settlement was still being negotiated in the week of the court hearing. Consequently, although the Trustee knew that the Scheme would be wound up if the settlement went ahead, it could not be at all certain that the settlement would go ahead. It was therefore by no means certain that the Scheme would shortly enter winding-up. Winding-up the Scheme is not within the Trustee’s power. It is not accepted that there is a legal duty on trustees to take steps to draw to members’ attention that circumstances may exist that might lead to a winding-up of the pension scheme. Despite this, and the uncertainty of the position, as early as March 2002 the Trustee did warn members that the Scheme may go into winding-up and that benefits may be reduced as a consequence …

… the Trustee had a duty to treat the Scheme as ongoing and … had certain duties it must fulfil … One such duty was to set a new Schedule of Contributions in 2002 …”

64. Capital Cranfield further submits:

64.1.  The information provided by the Trustee was not misleading or incorrect.

64.2. Negotiations in the matter of the compromise agreement continued up to the date of the court hearing. In particular, the amount of the settlement remained uncertain and it was not known if the company would go into liquidation before the court could hear the case.

64.3. Mr Monk was fully aware of the possibility that his transfer value could be reduced as a result of the settlement.

64.4. It is sympathetic to Mr Monk’s position but does not agree that it could be held personally liable for any maladministration in the event that such is found.

FAILURE TO DEAL WITH HIS REQUEST FOR A TRANSFER IN A TIMELY MANNER

Mr Monk’s Submission

65. Mr Monk submits:

65.1. He received a statement of entitlement on 13 February 2002 and had until 13 May 2002 to proceed with a request to transfer on the basis of the quotation.

65.2. Under Section 94(1)(aa) of the Pension Schemes Act 1993, if a member has received a statement of entitlement and has made a relevant application within three months of the ‘guarantee date’, that member acquired a right to the ‘guaranteed cash equivalent’.

65.3. He made a formal application to transfer in his letter of 27 April 2002, within the statutory three month period. In accordance with Section 99 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993, BGPST had six months from the guarantee date to make the transfer.

65.4. He accepts that Regulation 9(3) of the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 1996 gives BGPST the discretion to reduce a guaranteed cash equivalent where the Scheme has commenced winding up on or after the guarantee date. However, reduction is not automatic; the Trustee has a discretion not to reduce the transfer value.

65.5. BGPST should have given due regard to the fact that it was two months since he requested they proceed with the transfer and that he had acquired a right to the guaranteed cash equivalent before winding up commenced. It should also have considered that he had been seeking information concerning the Scheme’s funding position throughout 2001 and 2002 and had been advised that his best interests might be served by deferring his decision. This is a reference to a sentence in the covering letter sent by JLT with the transfer value quote in February 2002. This stated,

“In light of these facts your interests may be better served by taking a transfer value at a later date when a future actuarial valuation may show a more favourable funding position.”

65.6. Had BGPST given due consideration to these factors, it is unlikely that it would have reduced his transfer value to such an extent, if at all.

65.7. He accepts that BGPST was within the statutory time scale when responding to his transfer request but considers that its failure to respond until two months after the request falls short of good administrative practice.

Background

66. Mr Monk requested a transfer value statement on 31 December 2001. JLT sent him a Statement of Entitlement on 13 February 2002, guaranteed until 13 May 2002. They quoted a reduced transfer value of £449,168.

67. Mr Monk wrote to BGPST on 27 April 2002,

“… I am sorry that further information is not available to assist in my decision. The impact is enormous, however I feel I can no longer accept the uncertainty, and as a result formally request that my benefits are transferred … to a Personal Pension transfer plan of my choosing.”

68. On 2 May 2002, Mr Monk signed a ‘Statutory Option to a Personal Pension Form of Request’. The form states,

“I certify that I shall be taking up active membership of the Personal Pension Scheme …”

Mr Monk indicated on the form that his personal pension provider would be Standard Life.

69. Mr Monk sought further clarification of the reduction to the transfer value in an e-mail dated 6 May 2002 and received a response dated 7 May 2002.

70. On 13 May 2002, Mr Monk faxed a ‘Personal Pension Provider’s Warranty’, signed on behalf of Standard Life, to JLT.

71. On 31 May 2002, BGPST issued an announcement to members informing them of the settlement approved by the High Court. The announcement said,

“The Trustee wishes to ensure that all members of the Scheme are treated (sic) having regard to the priorities set out in the regulations. The Trustee has therefore decided, after having received actuarial advice, that transfer values will be reduced as follows:

Benefit Category


% of Transfer Value Paid

Additional Voluntary Contributions

100%

Protected Rights



100%

Residual benefit



15%

…The revised basis of calculating transfer values and payment of such transfer value will be applied to all future transfer value payments made after 13 May 2002 irrespective of whether a member has already requested a transfer value or has accepted a transfer value quotation.”

72. The announcement went on to say,

“The rationale behind the reduction of transfer values is to try and ensure that members who now choose to transfer out of the Scheme are not receiving more than an equitable share of the assets. If members were allowed to transfer out with transfer values that were not reduced, this could result in the members remaining in the Scheme receiving too little in comparison, when their benefits are bought out.”

73. JLT wrote to Mr Monk on 14 June 2002 informing him that his guaranteed transfer value had been reduced in accordance with Regulation 9(3) of the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 1996. The reduced transfer value was quoted as £200,952.44. Mr Monk was informed that he had three months in which to make a written application to take the reduced transfer value.

74. The minutes of BGPST’s meeting of 20 March 2002 record that BGPST received legal advice that they could reduce guaranteed cash equivalent transfer values if the Scheme commenced winding up after the guarantee date, to the extent necessary to comply with Section 73 of the Pensions Act 1995 (the priority order). The minutes record,

“It was noted that the Trustee has up to six months following the guarantee date to pay transfer values and the Trustee should take account of the interests of members as a whole when processing transfer value requests for individual members. [The Trustee’s legal adviser] also explained that it was possible for the Trustee to apply to OPRA for an extension on paying transfer value quotations … This was noted by the Trustee directors and would be considered if any individual requested a transfer, the payment of which would be detrimental to the interests of other members … This would be reviewed as an ongoing matter.”

75. In response to Mr Monk’s application at stage one of the IDR procedure, the Higham Group said,

“It is not accepted that the Trustee failed to process Mr Monk’s transfer request in a timely manner. The complainant has acknowledged that the Trustee acted within the statutory time limits … The transfer value was accepted by Mr Monk on 27 April 2002. The Trustee had six months from the guarantee date … to arrange the transfer. On 14 May 2002 … the Scheme entered winding-up … the Scheme Actuary advised … that all transfer values should be reduced under Regulation 9(3) … The Trustee … took the decision to reduce transfer value in the interests of members as a whole … the Trustee had no obligation to pay Mr Monks’ transfer value before the Scheme entered winding-up … Mr Monk would therefore have been in no different position had he accepted his transfer value … on 14 February 2002.

The complainant has also claimed that the Trustee should not have taken the decision to reduce [his] transfer value under Regulation 9(3) … The Trustee acted on the advice of the Scheme Actuary … It took this step in order to protect the interests of members as a whole … To have allowed Mr Monk to take his full transfer value … would have been prejudicial to all other members …”

76. Capital Cranfield submit:

76.1. if Mr Monk had accepted his transfer value at the first opportunity, the Trustee would not, under the statutory time limits, have been required to pay it before winding up commenced.

76.2. There was no undue delay on the part of the Trustee, following receipt of Mr Monk’s request to transfer.

76.3. The decision to reduce transfer values was taken on the advice of the Scheme Actuary and in the interests of all Scheme members.

COMPLAINT AGAINST JLT

Mr Monk’s Submission

77. Mr Monk submits:

77.1. The letter accompanying the transfer value statement of entitlement dated 13 February 2002, which included the comment,

“In light of these facts [reduction of transfer values] your interests may be better served by taking a transfer value at a later date when a future actuarial valuation may show a more favourable funding position.”

was misleading.

77.2. He was given a ‘clear steer’ that his interests might be best served by not transferring his benefits. In view of this advice, he deferred making a transfer request. The statement in JLT’s letter, together with a statement from the Group to the effect that the forthcoming settlement would be in everyone’s interests, was key in his mind when he chose not to transfer.

77.3. At the time JLT sent the letter to him, it would have been aware, having attended trustees’ meetings, that the compromise would have an adverse effect on members who had not reached NRD, such as himself.

77.4. As the Scheme administrator and in sending out communications on behalf of the Trustee, JLT owed a duty of care to Scheme members. This duty of care was not lessened by his experience in the pensions field.

JLT’s Response

78. JLT submits:

78.1. JTL the scheme administrator and consultant owed duties to the Trustees under contract. It did not owe any duties or responsibilities to any other person or party, including but not limited to the sponsoring employer or any individual member.

78.2. Mr Monk is very experienced in pensions. He was authorised by the Financial Services Authority (FSA) to act as an independent financial adviser and currently works in pensions. Mr Monk would have had as much, if not more, knowledge of the Scheme as JLT. In addition, Mr Monk had engaged a financial adviser.

78.3. It is wrong to give the letter of 13 February 2002 more weight than it can carry. The letter was a response to a request for a transfer value and simply said,

“…your interests may be better served by taking a transfer value at a later date when a future actuarial valuation may show a more favourable funding position.” (JLT’s emphasis)

Mr Monk will know from his experience that such a paragraph is included ‘as a matter of common practice’ where the scheme is in deficit.

78.4. The paragraph in question does not give advice and Mr Monk would have been aware of this because of his pensions experience.

78.5. The paragraph ‘is no more that a statement of the possible’. The forthcoming actuarial valuation might have shown an improved funding position but, equally, it might not have. Mr Monk would have been aware of these possibilities.

78.6. Mr Monk did not rely on JLT’s letter of 13 February 2002. It is clear that he took an active interest in the financial status of the sponsoring employer and was aware of the proposed settlement. It is unlikely in the extreme that Mr Monk relied on JLT’s letter. The evidence indicates that he sought further information after receiving the letter, which suggests that he did not rely on the letter. In particular, JLT refers (inter alia) to subsequent correspondence between Mr Monk and the BGPST.

78.7. There were other factors which influenced Mr Monk’s decision, including the terms of the proposed settlement and whether the Scheme would be wound up before his NRD.

78.8. JLT disagrees with the statements made in the IDR responses to the effect that BGPST had subsequently instructed it to send letters to members retracting the statement in the February 2002 letter. It suggests that the subsequent letter should more appropriately be described as a clarification rather than a retraction and, in any event, was unnecessary.

BGPST’s Position

79. In response to Mr Monk’s application at stage one of the IDR procedure, the Higham Group said,

“The Trustee acknowledges that the letter accompanying Mr Monk’s transfer value included a statement by JLT … that he might be better served by not taking a transfer value at this time. The Trustee had no knowledge that this statement was being made and the statement was not authorised or condoned by the Trustee in any way. When the Trustee discovered such a statement had been made to some members, it instructed JLT to immediately send a letter to those members retracting the statement and advising members to seek independent advice over whether or not to take a transfer. We understand, having made inquiries of JLT, that Mr Monk was not sent such a letter because by that time he had already accepted his transfer value ... it is not accepted that Mr Monk acted to his detriment in reliance on this statement … It is also not accepted that this statement itself was misleading. At the time it was made, it was possible that transfer values could have improved in the future. More funding from the Employers was expected either by way of ongoing contributions or by way of a settlement …”

80. Capital Cranfield  submit:

80.1. The Trustees were not aware of the statement in the letter from JLT and asked for it to be retracted when they did become aware. However, Mr Monk asked for additional information on 18 February 2002, which suggests he did not rely on this letter in the way that he suggests. He was aware by 27 March 2002, at the latest, that the Scheme was to wind up but did not request his transfer until a month later.

80.2. Even if Mr Monk had accepted his transfer value at the first opportunity, the Trustee would not, under the statutory time limits, have been required to pay it before winding up commenced.

CONCLUSIONS

The Group’s Alleged Failure To Pay The Proceeds Of Disposals To The Scheme
81. During 2000 and 2001, the stated intention of the Group was to address the Scheme deficit. It appeared to believe that this could be achieved by the sale of certain elements of its business and issued statements to that effect. The Chairman’s letter (see Appendix 1) referred to an intention to apply ‘most of’ the proceeds gained from the sales to addressing the Scheme deficit but also recognised that there were other calls on the funds; taxation, reorganisation costs and transaction costs. What emerges from the documentation is a picture of a business in considerable difficulty, but which the directors hoped would continue as a going concern. Whilst the Group obviously recognised the Scheme deficit as an issue to be addressed urgently, it had other problems to deal with at the same time, if it was to continue as a going concern.

82. I accept Mr Monk’s assertion that statements from the Group would be read by members seeking reassurance as to the future security of their benefits.  I accept also that the Group did not act in accordance with those statements.  However, the Group’s statements cannot, in my view, amount to anything more than statements of intent, i.e. they were not guarantees or promises. Nor should they be read in isolation. Mr Monk has made the point that he was sensitive to information about the Group and the Scheme because of the proximity of his retirement. He also has relevant professional expertise which will give a greater understanding of the relationship between a scheme and its sponsoring employer, in terms of the Scheme funding, than perhaps is usual for a lay member. For example, he will have been able to comprehend that the information contained in BGPST’s letter of February 2002 indicated that the Scheme was in a precarious financial position.  It was unwise of him, if indeed he did so, to interpret a statement of intent as having the same value as a guarantee or a legally enforceable promise. This remains the case regardless of whether Mr Monk knew what the precise outcome of the compromise agreement would be.

83. Mr Monk has suggested that the Group had a duty to inform members when it became apparent that it would not be in a position to address the deficit. The Group does not have the same responsibility to disclose information to the Scheme members as the Trustee. It did refer, albeit briefly, to ongoing discussions with the Trustee on the subject of the Scheme deficit in its Annual Report for 2001. I am not persuaded that it was required to give specific details of those discussions to the Scheme members.

Delays In Reaching A Settlement
84. It is true that, having retired (at normal retirement age) before the Scheme commenced winding up, the Group’s Chairman is in a more favourable position as far as the priority order for securing benefits is concerned than if he had become a deferred member. It is also clear that the negotiations between the Group and BGPST, in the matter of the compromise settlement, were protracted and difficult. However, this was a complex situation and not one that could be expected to be resolved easily. I am also mindful of the fact that it was intended that the compromise settlement was to be subject to court approval and, to some extent, this also had an influence on the timing of the agreement. I do not criticise the Group for continuing to negotiate right up until the court hearing. Thereafter the matter would be settled and there would be no further room for negotiation. Once the court had approved the settlement, winding up was triggered.

85. I am not persuaded that there is sufficient evidence to suggest that any delay was a deliberate ploy on the part of the Company to protect the Chairman’s retirement benefits. It seems more likely that any delay arose out of the complexity of the circumstances and the competing interests of the Company (to secure its future) and the Scheme (to secure members’ benefits). Whether the Group should have continued to trade at this time is not a matter for my consideration. Mr Monk has suggested that the Chairman ignored a report in order to benefit from becoming a pensioner. Even if the Chairman had chosen not to act on the report (and I do not consider that this is something I need concern myself with), Mr Monk is still a long way from being able to show that this was a deliberate ploy in order for the Chairman to benefit from the priority order on winding up.

86. Mr Monk has invited me to hold an oral hearing to determine the ‘honesty and integrity’ of the Group. I am not persuaded that this is necessary in view of my finding that the Group had not given a binding promise in relation to the Scheme funding.

87. Mr Monk suggests that my use of terms such as ‘I am not persuaded’ or ‘it seems likely’ imply that I have doubts as to the Group’s conduct on the issue.  What I have to say on the matter I say explicitly and with careful choice of vocabulary.  Mr Monk (and others) should not read into my words more, or less, than I have said.

BGPST’s Alleged Failure To Ensure Payment Of Employer’s Contributions
88. I am not persuaded that Rule 3(2) (see paragraph 41) binds the Group to the contribution rate recommended by the Scheme Actuary. Rule 3(2) refers to the contribution being calculated on a basis agreed between the Group and BGPST. It would be entirely possible for the Group and BGPST to agree to adopt the contribution rate recommended by the Actuary but they are not bound to do so. BGPST may, however, have some explaining to do if it agrees to lesser contributions than those recommended.

89. In addition to General Rule 3(2), the Trustees are required, by Section 58 of the Pensions Act 1995 (see Appendix 2), to ensure that a schedule of contributions is prepared, maintained and from time to time revised. The content of the schedule is to be agreed with the employer, in this case with the Group. To my mind, this is not very different to the approach envisaged in Rule 3(2). Where agreement cannot be reached, the schedule of contributions is to be based on the MFR.

90. BGPST has confirmed that the Group paid the contributions agreed in the Schedule of Contributions. I am not persuaded that Rule 3(2) enabled BGPST to insist that the Group paid contributions in excess of this. The minutes of the Board meetings submitted by Mr Monk (see Appendix 1) indicate that BGPST requested further funding from the Group and that this was considered. There have been cases before the courts where it has been found that trustees could require the sponsoring company to pay additional contributions but each case rested very much on the wording of the scheme rule in question
. I am not persuaded that Rule 3(2) provides such a facility for BGPST.

91. Mr Monk has suggested that BGPST did not take steps to protect the members’ benefits by seeking further funding from the Group. He appears to be ignoring the fact that BGPST entered into extensive negotiations with the Group on the matter of the Scheme funding, the outcome of which was the compromise agreement. This agreement has been confirmed by the High Court case and I therefore need not concern myself with the details. However, the existence of the agreement indicates that BGPST had indeed taken steps to protect the members’ benefits and the evidence indicates that the agreement it was able to reach attempted to secure greater funding for the Scheme than would have been available if the Group had gone into liquidation before winding up commenced. 

92. I do not find that there has been maladministration on the part of BGPST in failing to ensure payment of the employer’s contributions.

Whether BGPST Misled Mr Monk As To The Future Viability Of The Scheme
93. Mr Monk’s complaint is, in essence, that BGPST did not advise him of the risk in not transferring at an earlier date. I am not persuaded that BGPST was required to give Mr Monk the kind of advice he appears to have been looking for, i.e. the answer to the question ‘should I transfer now or hang on in the hope that there are more funds available when all is settled?’ To my mind, this is the kind of question more properly addressed to an independent financial adviser.

94. In December 2001, BGPST informed members that the Scheme deficit on an ongoing basis was  £26.5 million. I believe this was sufficient to put members on alert that the Scheme was in an extremely vulnerable funding position.

95. In February 2002, BGPST told Mr Monk that the £26.5 million deficit equated to a 59% funding coverage (see paragraph 54). Mr Monk has drawn my attention to the reference in that letter to negotiating a new schedule of contributions, which he considers to be misleading. The Higham Group (on behalf of BGPST) have explained that it was the case that BGPST were negotiating a new schedule of contributions with the Group and that it was required to continue to administer the Scheme as ongoing until winding up was triggered. I agree.

96. Mr Monk had by then received a transfer value quotation, which quoted a reduced transfer value. He was aware that all was not well with the Scheme’s funding and, given his professional background, would have been equally aware of the way that the statutory priority order worked on winding up. I am not persuaded that this kind of knowledge was (or should be) beyond the scope of a pensions professional and sometime pension scheme trustee. BGPST was not in a position, at that time, to give Mr Monk any further detail as to the likely outcome of their negotiations on the debt settlement or when winding up might be triggered. As I have said, it was not for BGPST to advise Mr Monk whether or not he should transfer at that point.

97. I sympathise with Mr Monk’s dilemma but he appears to have been looking for BGPST to advise him in a way that it was neither in a position to do nor required to do. I do not find that there was maladministration on the part of BGPST in the information it provided for Mr Monk. I agree that BGPST had a responsibility to ensure that the information it gave to Mr Monk was correct.  There is no evidence to suggest that the information contained in its letter of February 2002 was incorrect. I do not think that the appropriateness or otherwise of more general advice relating to pension schemes as a whole available in the public domain can be laid at BGPST’s door.

BGPST’s Alleged Failure To Deal With His Request For A Transfer In A Timely Manner
98. Although Mr Monk wrote to BGPST on 27 April 2002, indicating that he had decided to transfer, he did not provide the necessary information which would enable the transfer to proceed until 13 May 2002. This was only a short time before winding up commenced and BGPST decided to reduce transfer values still further. Mr Monk accepts that BGPST may reduce transfer values under Regulation 9(3). He argues that it should exercise discretion in his case not to increase the reduction. The rationale he offers for this is that he had been seeking information about the potential winding up and the effect that would have on his transfer value. Mr Monk also seeks to rely on the letter from JLT inasmuch as he says he was advised to defer transferring. I will deal with this claim more fully when I consider Mr Monk’s complaint against JLT.

99. BGPST were within the statutory time-scale for dealing with Mr Monk’s transfer request. It took the decision to reduce transfer values still further in the interests of the members as a whole. Whilst I appreciate Mr Monk’s distress, I do not think it can be right that he should be treated more favourably than other deferred members. I do not find that there has been maladministration on the part of BGPST in the matter of Mr Monk’s transfer request.

Complaint Against JLT
100. It would be stretching the language of JLT’s letter to say that it gave Mr Monk a ‘clear steer’ to defer transferring his benefits. The letter must be read in the light of all the other information that was available to Mr Monk.  Whilst subsequent events have cast an unfortunate light on the statement, I find it difficult (if not impossible) to accept that Mr Monk took this as a piece of noteworthy advice upon which he then based his decision to defer making a decision to transfer.

101. I am satisfied that he had sufficient information from alternative sources as to the vulnerable funding position of the Scheme. I do not find that the wording of JLT’s letter of 13 February 2002 amounts to maladministration on their part.

DAVID LAVERICK

Pensions Ombudsman

8 September 2006

APPENDIX 1

The Share Disposal Prospectus

102. Paragraph 6 of the Chairman’s letter states,

“Background to and Reason for and Benefits of the Disposals

On 16 March 2000, the Company announced that it was putting up for sale its Insurance Broking Businesses.

The Group’s Insurance Broking Businesses account for just over half of the Group’s turnover but are the least profitable part of the Group’s businesses and consume the major part of the Group’s available resources.

The proposal to dispose of the Marine and Energy Business is associated with the impending departure from the Group of the key executives involved in that business …

Shareholders will be aware that a substantial deficit exists in the Company’s pension scheme (“the Pension Scheme “). The amount of this deficit is currently estimated at between £9 million and £10 million. In effecting the Disposals, the Group will be able to fund the deficit in the Pension Scheme and the Group intends over time to apply most of the cash proceeds from the Disposals for this purpose. Accounting rules require that the pension scheme deficit relating to the transferring employees is treated as an exceptional item in this year’s profit and loss account (assuming completion by 30 September 2000).

A further part of the proceeds of the Disposals will be used to fund reorganisation costs (currently estimated at £1.9 million in aggregate) which will result from the Insurance Disposal. After settlement of the Pension Scheme deficit, taxation, the reorganisation costs referred to above and transaction costs, the Group expects to receive net proceeds … of approximately £2.4 million which will be available as working capital …”

103. The Chairman’s statement accompanying an interim financial statement for the Group for the six months ending 31 March 2000 included the following paragraph,

“Shareholders will be aware of the substantial deficit that exists in the Company’s pension scheme. It is now evident that the contributions into the Scheme are insufficient to comply with the Minimum Funding Requirement (MFR) Rules. These rules stipulate that 90 per cent of the liabilities must be funded by April 2003. For the time being at least, this funding requirement does not directly affect the profit and loss account since the cost of funding the deficit can be spread equally through to 2007. However, the onus of complying with the requirement to fund 90 per cent of the liabilities by April 2003 is a serious drain on our cash flow. It is in the light of this situation that the Board took the decision to seek a buyer for the Insurance Broking business and, in effecting the sale, to address the deficit in the Pension Scheme.”

Bradstock Group Preliminary Accounts for the year ended 30 September 2001

104. The Group’s preliminary accounts for 2001 were published on its website. The Chairman’s Review of the Year included the following statement,

“… Details of the exceptional items are given in note 2(a) to these accounts, the most significant of which is an additional provision of £8.2m to that for the Pension Scheme deficit on which I comment below …

Company Pension Scheme

The most important issue the Board is trying to address is the deficit in the Company’s final salary Pension Scheme, which has increased considerably since the last Annual Report. Nearly all final salary pension schemes have been adversely affected by changes in mortality expectations, and by the downturn in the equity market and lower gilt yields resulting in changes to investment return assumptions. An independent qualified actuary has provided the Company with an interim actuarial assessment of the Pension Scheme as at 30 September 2001, which shows a deficit of £14.0m. A total of £4.3m, has been paid into the Scheme by the Group during the year. An additional provision of £8.5m has been made in respect of the deficit attributable to employees who have left the Group.

It is imperative that a solution to the deficit problem is found. In view of the considerably larger deficit in the Pension Scheme, it is apparent that there is no reasonable prospect of the deficit being met from trading profits in the foreseeable future. Consequently, your Board has recently put a proposal to the Trustee of the Pension Scheme in the hope that a final agreement can be reached that will be mutually beneficial to both the Pension Scheme and the Group.

It clearly is in everyone’s interests to conclude this matter as soon as possible, and as I have said earlier, shareholders should be aware that the Board is working tirelessly to resolve this problem which is currently restraining the Group’s development going forward. The Board believes that if a satisfactory resolution to the pension deficit can be achieved during the course of the current financial year then there will be a number of options to develop the business.”

Bradstock Group Annual Report & Accounts 2001

105. The Group’s Annual Report for 2001 included the following statement,

“GOING CONCERN
As a result of the balance sheet of the Group showing a net deficit of shareholders’ funds as at 30 September 2001, the directors have considered the appropriateness of continuing to use the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. The directors have undertaken a process to satisfy themselves that the Group will be a going concern for not less than 12 months after the date of approval of the accounts …

The cashflow implications of the Pension Scheme deficit, which is a significant factor contributing to the Group’s current position, have been considered and factored into the projections. The Board is in discussion with the Trustee on this subject.

Based on the premise that a final agreement can be reached in respect of the Pension Scheme deficit, the Board believes that it will be able to maintain and develop its existing business as well as attracting more producing brokers to the Group. However it is too early in the 2002 renewal season to determine the accuracy of these projections.

…

In light of all of the facts available at the time of preparation of the accounts the Board considers that the Group has sufficient cash reserves to settle its liabilities as and when they fall due for a period of no less than 12 months after the approval of these financial statements. The Board therefore considers it appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.”

106. The Annual Report also included a statement concerning the Scheme, which stated,

“At the date of the last actuarial valuation, the market value of the assets was £44.8m. The actuarial value of the assets was £40.0m, which represented 59% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for assumed future salary increases.

The Group has been making contributions into the Scheme in accordance with the Schedule of Contributions set as a result of the Minimum Funding Requirement (“MFR”) valuation as at 1st July 2000.

…

The calculation of the Company’s pension costs and the provision in the balance sheet … have been determined by an interim actuarial assessment … as at 30 September 2001 …

This valuation calculated that the market value of the assets of the Scheme as at 30 September 2001 was £37.0m and the value of the liabilities was £51.0m producing a deficit of £14.0m …”

Witness Statement – Mr M B Campe

107. Mr Campe states,

“I was the Managing Director of the reinsurance division (known as Bradstock, Blunt & Crawley) of Bradstock Group Plc (“the Group”) from October 1996 until September 2000. I am currently Business Unit Head in Aviation Reinsurance with Jardine Lloyd Thompson Risk Solutions. I am a deferred member of the Bradstock Group Pension Scheme (“the Scheme”).

The Group sold off a number of its businesses throughout 1999 and 2000. Following the sale of Bradstock Blunt & Thompson in 2000 either Graham Barden, a main Board director of Bradstock Group Plc, or Tony Fox , Chairman and Chief Executive of the Group, or both of them, gave presentations to the remaining staff. During the presentations I can recall that it was confirmed that the bulk of the sales proceeds realised from the sales of the various companies would be used to rectify the deficit in the Scheme. Mr Bardon’s and/or Mr Fox’s reassurances in this respect were unequivocal and at one point one of them indicated that he had been informed by John Massey, who was a Board member and a Scheme trustee, that Mr Massey would ensure that the sale proceeds would be used in this way.

The effect of Mr Barden’s and/or Mr Fox’s presentations, combined with additional information and announcements issued by both the Group and the Scheme trustees, was to reassure Scheme members that their benefits within the Scheme were secure and that it was not necessary for them to transfer their benefits out of the Scheme to protect their position.”

E-mail and Memoranda from/to the Group Finance Director

108. On 3 October 2000, the Group Finance Director wrote to the Directors of the Bradstock Group plc:

“Bradstock Group is currently complying with the Schedule of Contributions prepared by the actuary to the Pension Scheme and dated 22 September 1999.

Enquiries made at the time of completing the groups statutory accounts for the year to September 1999, showed this schedule to be incorrect because it did not lead to the funding of the statutory minimum funding level by the required date (April 2003). The group have had knowledge of this since at least 12th January when I submitted my report … The Trustees were made aware of these findings.

Around £2m in pension contributions which would have been requested from Bradstock by the Trustees had a new Schedule of Contributions been prepared by the scheme actuary and agreed between the trustees and the group, has not been effected.

It is a matter for the Trustees to arrange for a new schedule to be produced. The transition of the actuary to Abbey National, and the subsequent departure from Abbey National of the Scheme actuary … has left this administrative matter in limbo.

As the Group’s finance director, with the year end accounts looming, I am gravely concerned about the ability of Abbey National to provide the appropriate information.

We know that there are many suspicious and anxious pension scheme members who will not hesitate to lobby the regulatory authorities if they feel that the company is not properly discharging its duties towards the pension scheme.

Accordingly, I believe that the immediate funding of £2m would mitigate this and I am consequently asking the board to approve this payment. The £2m has been calculated with reference to the KPMG study concluded in January.

If the Board agrees to this proposal, a discussion will need to take place with the Trustees. I know however, from informal conversations, that such a contribution would  be welcomed and it would help to assuage the nervousness and morale of current employees of the group.”

109. The Group’s Chairman and Chief Executive replied on 9 October 2000: 

“I received your memo dated 3rd October and am somewhat concerned with its content.

Firstly, I think we should put the record straight by saying that whatever enquiries were made at the time of completion of the groups statutory accounts from the year end to 30th September, 1999 showed an inadequate rather than an incorrect schedule on the proposed statutory minimum funding level required by April 2003.

As a main board director … I certainly did not have knowledge of this since 12th January … however, I assume that the trustees of the scheme were made aware of these findings.

The £2,000,000 in pension contributions you are suggesting the Group pass to the Trustees to be paid into the scheme which you say has been agreed, I have not seen a copy of this correspondence so I would be grateful if you could supply this to me and the members of the Board.

Your comments with regard to … Abbey National … is duly noted, however, this is a matter we need to raise with the Trustees …

I acknowledge the fact that several pension scheme members are anxious for us to fund the pension scheme but this is a matter to be dealt with by the Trustees … not the Group Board at this point.

Before the board can approve this payment of £2,000,000 I think that the KPMG study … needs to be circulated so that we may review it prior to making this commitment.

At this point in time we should not be entering into discussions with employees about the pension scheme until we have received our report.”

110. In an email dated 29 June 2000, the Finance Director says:

“… You will see that because we are unable to shelter very much tax, we will have just enough to fund the pension scheme. Did you know by the way that the pension scheme is not a preferential creditor in winding up? …”

Attached to the e-mail was a ‘Calculation of Sales Proceeds’ for the Insurance Division. This showed that the proceeds of the sale, after allowance for tax, costs and the repayment of an overdraft, amounted to £9.595 million. The estimated deficit in the pension scheme was shown as £9.5 million and the cost of an actuarial valuation as £95,000.

News Item from Hemscott

111. This reads: 

“Bradstocks explained that, in effecting the above disposals, the group seeks to address the deficit in the company’s pension scheme, which is currently estimated at between 9-10 mln stg.

The group intends to apply most of the cash proceeds from the disposals for this purpose over time. A further part of the proceeds of the disposals will be used to fund reorganisation costs – currently estimated at 1.9 mln stg in aggregate …”

Extracts from Minutes of Board Meetings

112. 24 January 2000

“The Scheme Actuary attended to discuss the Schedule of Contributions and informed the Board that an increased rate of funding would be required.”

113. 31 October 2000

“The Chairman reported that the Group and BGPST had received letters from Scheme members enquiring as to the Group’s proposals to improve the Scheme’s funding position.”

114. 20 November 2000

“In discussing the Group’s 2000 results, the Group Finance Director referred to a £7.6 million provision for the pension scheme deficit. The minutes record that the Scheme Actuary had calculated the deficit to be £9.8 million in September 2000. The minutes also record that the Board resolved to pay an additional contribution of £2 million, subject to confirmation in a revised schedule of contributions that this was due.”

115. January 2001

“The Board were informed that members of the Scheme were extremely concerned that none of the proceeds of the disposals had been used to fund the Scheme deficit. The Board were also informed that the Scheme Actuary had said that the MFR provisions did not require payment until 31 December 2000. Payment as soon as possible was requested by BGPST. The Board agreed to ask the Scheme Actuary for the cost of delaying payment of a £2 million contribution to 31 December 2001.”

116. 16 February 2001

“The Board were informed that the Actuary had calculated a further £180,000 would be required if payment of a £2 million contribution was delayed until 31 December 2001. The Board resolved to pay £2 million on 1 March 2001, when funds became available.”

117. 1 March 2001

“The Board had been presented with a number of schedules of contributions to consider”

118. There was no reference to Scheme funding at the Board Meetings on 27 March 2001

119. June 2001

The Board were presented with the agreed Schedule of Contributions and informed that the first payment (£1.925 million) had been made. The Board were updated on without prejudice discussions with BGPST in the matter of the proposed settlement.

120. 14 August 2001

The Board were informed that further advice was being sought in the matter of the proposed settlement with BGPST.

Statement by Mr Page

121. “The presentations … were to all staff at BBT … I am not aware that there was a transcript of these but in essence they followed a straightforward pattern. “It is in your interest to stay on board both in terms of not moving elsewhere to another job … and taking a transfer value from the pension scheme. These factors are essential to ensure the proposed payment in to the pension scheme can take place and you and all your colleagues will benefit from the pension scheme deficit being made up i.e. don’t spoil it for others …””

Statement by Mr Smyth

122. “… in the main boardroom told the assembled company that the reason that a part of Bradstock was being sold was to address the deficit in the Pension Fund. He said “it was the only way to protect our pensions”. This was an unequivocal statement. At that point, I believed that my pension was secure.”

Statement by Mr Bennington

123. “At all times, it was the intention that a substantial proportion of the sale proceeds be used to address the Pension Scheme Deficit regardless of who the acquirer was to be … it was made clear very early on they would not be inheriting any liability …

… there was an atmosphere of relief that despite the haggling over price etc. there would still be enough in the deal to fund the pension scheme. At that point there is no question that the Bradstock employees transferring to … had been comforted in the belief that the deficit would benefit from a substantial injection of cash from the … deal.

… many of us … genuinely believing Bradstock couldn’t possibly renege on the promise to address the pension issue.”

Announcement by BGPST dated 15 May 2000

124. “You will probably be aware of [the Group’s] announcement to the Stock Exchange … that the Group’s insurance broking operations are for sale and that in effecting this sale the Board … intends to address the deficit in the Group’s pension scheme …

…

[The Group] has confirmed that, as stated in its announcement …, in effecting the sale of its direct insurance business the Board intends to address the deficit in the Scheme. Provided that all contributions continue to be paid as recommended by the Actuary (and the Trustee has received no indication that the Company will not continue to pay contributions) there does not appear to be any foreseeable reason why benefits (i.e. both pensions and lump sums on retirement and death) should not continue to be paid in full. The Trustee and its professional advisers will continue to monitor developments closely regarding the funding of the Scheme and any impact on the Scheme of the proposed sale of the Group’s broking operations …”

Summary of Bradstock Group Pension Scheme Trustees Ltd v Bradstock Group plc and others

Chancery Division

Charles Aldous QC sitting as a deputy judge of the High Court

17 June 2002 

Pension – Pension scheme – Minimum funding requirements – Scheme in substantial deficit – Employers having no realistic prospect of making necessary payments – Whether court should sanction proposed compromise of statutory debt – Pensions Act 1995, s 75. 

The claimant was the trustee of the pension scheme, an exempt approved occupational scheme. B Ltd was the principal employer under the scheme, with the holding company, B plc, being the other employer. The scheme, which was a final salary scheme, was subject to the statutory minimum funding requirements (MFR) imposed by ss 55 to 61 of the Pensions Act 1995 and associated regulations. Those provisions required periodic actuarial valuations of the scheme. Where as in the instant case, the MFR valuation disclosed a serious under-provision the employer was required to bring the scheme up to at least 90% of the MFR by 5 April 2003 by stepped interim payments. If the scheme was wound up or the employer went into liquidation, s 75 of the 1995 Act, which in broad terms created an unsecured non-preferential debt owed by the employer for the whole shortfall, came into operation. The employers had no realistic prospect of being able to pay the June instalment and the remaining funds required to be paid by April 2003. The trustee negotiated a compromise sought by the employers under which the scheme would receive significantly more than it would recover in a liquidation, but still considerably less than the full amount of the MFR deficit with the result that pension benefits would have to be scaled back substantially. Under the proposed compromise the scheme was to be wound up following notice by the employers to discontinue contributions and simultaneously the debt due under s 75 was to be compromised by an immediate cash payment plus deferred consideration, suitably secured and guaranteed. In those circumstances the trustee applied for directions as to whether to enter into the compromise. Two issues were raised on the application. First, whether it was possible as a matter of law to compromise a statutory debt arising under s 75 of the 1995 Act and, second whether, if so the court regarded the proposed compromise as one which in the circumstances a reasonable and properly advised trustee could enter into in the exercise of its powers. 

The court ruled: 

There was no reason why as a matter of construction or public policy trustees should not be able to compromise or otherwise deal with a statutory debt arising under s 75 of the 1995 Act in the exercise of their powers under s 15 of the Trustees Act 1925. To do so was not a case of contracting out of the provision but rather of enforcing it by means which the trustees honestly and reasonably believed secured the largest amount towards the shortfall. It was giving effect to the legislation in the best practical way, consistent with the exercise of the trustees' general powers. That was the very opposite of contracting out. It would be contrary to the purpose of the MFR legislation if trustees were to be prevented from compromising the debt and forced to take steps which would produce less for the scheme when that would be in conflict with their ordinary duties as trustees towards their members. In the circumstances the court was satisfied that it was a reasonable compromise for the trustee to enter into. Accordingly there was no obstacle as a matter of law or principle to the proposed compromise of the employers' s 75 liability.

APPENDIX 2

The Pensions Act 1995

Section 58 provides,

“(1)
The trustees or managers of an occupational pension scheme to which section 56 [Minimum Funding Requirement] applies must secure that there is prepared, maintained and from time to time revised a schedule (referred to in sections 57 to 59 as a "schedule of contributions") showing —

(a)
the rates of contributions payable towards the scheme by or on behalf of the employer and the active members of the scheme, and

(b)
the dates on or before which such contributions are to be paid.

(2) ...

(3) The schedule of contributions for a scheme —

(a)
must be prepared before the end of a prescribed period beginning with the signing of the first actuarial valuation for the scheme,

(b)
may be revised from time to time where the revisions are previously agreed by the trustees or managers and the employer and any revision in the rates of contributions is certified by the actuary of the scheme, and

(c)
must be revised before the end of a prescribed period beginning with the signing of each subsequent actuarial valuation.

(4)
The matters shown in the schedule of contributions for a scheme —

(a)
must be matters previously agreed by the trustees or managers and the employer, or

(b)
if no such agreement has been made as to all the matters shown in the schedule, must be —

(i)
rates of contributions determined by the trustees or managers, being such rates as in their opinion are adequate for the purpose of securing that the minimum funding requirement will continue to be met throughout the prescribed period or, if it appears to them that it is not met, will be met by the end of that period, and

(ii)
other matters determined by the trustees or managers;

and the rates of contributions shown in the schedule must be certified by the actuary of the scheme.

(5)
An agreement for the purposes of subsection (4)(a) is one which is made by the trustees or managers and the employer during the prescribed period beginning with the signing of the last preceding actuarial valuation for the scheme.

…”

� JLT cites Secretary of State for Education and Skills & East Sussex County Council v SE Harley & CI Higgs [2004]


�McClelland v Unisys New Zealand Ltd [2002] OPLR 39, NZ HC
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- 1 -


